SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF CALIFORNIA

FEB 0 1 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

THE BUODY F) No. S242244	Deputy
THE PEOPLE,) 2 ND Crim. No.B265937	
Plaintiff and Respondent,)	
) Los Angeles County	
V.) Superior Court No.	
) BA420611	
ALEJANDRO O. GUZMAN,)	
)	
Defendants and Appellants.)	
)	

APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

VERNA WEFALD State Bar No. 127104 65 North Raymond Avenue # 320 Pasadena, California 91103 Telephone: (626) 577-2658 Facsimile: (626) 685-2562 Email: verna@vernawefald.com

Attorney for Appellant Guzman

Appointed by the Court of Appeal Under the California Appellate Project Independent Case Program

ISSUES FOR REVIEW

- 1. Whether the Truth-in-Evidence provision of the state constitution (Cal. Const. art. I, § 28, subd. (f), par. (2)) abrogates Penal Code section 632, subdivision (d), that makes the surreptitious recording of confidential communications inadmissible in judicial proceedings?
- 2. Whether the admission of an illegally recorded telephone call of a defense witness by the mother of an alleged victim violated Appellant's due process rights under the federal and state constitutions?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Appellant Guzman was charged by information in the Los Angeles County Superior Court with two counts of lewd act upon a child in violation of Penal Code section 288 subdivision (a). The two alleged victims were Monica M (count one) and Esmeralda F (count two). Appellant turned down the prosecution's offer of three years in prison. (CT 57-59, 2 RT 40.)¹ He was convicted of both counts by a jury and sentenced to five years. (CT 177-182, 5 RT 2109-2110.)

The Court of Appeal affirmed Appellant's convictions in a published decision on April 27, 2017. (*People v. Guzman* (2017) 11 Cal.App.5th 184.)²

On July 26, 2017, this Court granted the petition for review.

¹ "CT" stands for Clerk's Transcript. "RT" stands for Reporter's Transcript.

² In discussing the decision of the Court of Appeal, Appellant will cite to the slip opinion.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. A secretly recorded phone conversation was admitted to impeach a defense witness

Both girls had accused Appellant of touching them inappropriately. Monica was Appellant's 12 year old niece who lived in an apartment below Appellant's family. Monica testified that Appellant touched her vagina and showed her his penis. (3 RT 933-955.)

Esmeralda was 10 years old and lived next door. She testified that one day Appellant told her she had a hole in her shorts. He followed her into the bathroom and touched her chest. (2 RT 641-653.)

Appellant testified in his own defense and denied the accusations. (4 RT 1306-1309.)

Appellant's 18 year old niece Lorena Leon also testified for the defense. Lorena said that Appellant was a playful and affectionate person but he never molested her. (3 RT 1061.) Lorena learned that Esmeralda told the police that Lorena had been molested by Appellant. Lorena said Esmeralda was not telling the truth. (3 RT 1066-1070.)

Monica's mother Esperanza secretly recorded a phone conversation with Lorena that was admitted into evidence over defense objection. Lorena testified that she did not know that her aunt Esperanza had recorded a phone conversation with her on September 10, 2013. Lorena listened to the tapes and said the entire call was not recorded. (4 RT 1231-1233.) On the phone, her aunt started questioning her about family issues. The aunt told her that Monica was accusing Appellant of touching her inappropriately. This was the first time Lorena had heard this. (4 RT 1234.)

The aunt asked Lorena whether she had ever been molested by Appellant. Lorena answered that Appellant is "very affectionate" and a "very loving and caring person" who "perhaps sometimes" "comes at you too close" but "never had I been touched by him in my vagina or my breast." (4 RT 1235.)

Lorena was recorded as saying that she knew Appellant 'was capable of doing that" so "that's why I believe what Monica's saying." (CT 121.) Lorena explained to the jury that when she told her aunt she believed Monica, she was "being sympathetic." (4 RT 1239.) When the aunt asked if she could be a witness for Monica "anonymously" Lorena said she first wanted to speak to Monica personally to get her side of the story. (4 RT 1240-1241.) When the aunt said Lorena had warned Monica to be careful, she did not deny

it, but she did not confirm it either. (4 RT 1247.) When she said on the call that she was not comfortable wearing shorts, she meant around any man, "personally growing up in South Central." (4 RT 1243.)

B. Defense counsel argued that the secretly recorded phone conversation violated Penal Code § 632(d)

The afternoon of the first day of trial, the prosecutor told defense counsel that Monica's mother, Esperanza Martinez, just notified her that she tape recorded Lorena. As soon as the tape recording was obtained by the police, a copy would be given to defense counsel. (2 RT 13-14.)

The tape recording was made six days before Monica's mother went to the police. Lorena said that Appellant did not touch her inappropriately but that she believed Monica. The prosecutor said she would not use the tape in her case-in-chief but if Lorena testified she would use the recording to impeach her. If defense counsel moved for a continuance based on this new evidence the prosecutor would file multiple victim allegations which would trigger a life sentence. Defense counsel complained that the late discovery was not only unfair but that the recording was barred by Penal Code section 632 subdivision (d). (2 RT 308.)

The prosecutor countered that the tape recording was admissible under sections 633 (exception for law enforcement) and 633.5 (exception for recording the commission by another party of the crimes of extortion, kidnapping, bribery, or felony violence to the person). (2 RT 308-309.)

The court believed that the tape recording was admissible under *People v. Crow* (1994) 28 Cal.App.4th 440, which allows impeachment by statements made during plea negotiations. The court acknowledged that the case was not on point. (2 RT 678.)

After Lorena testified, the court held a 402 hearing on the admissibility of the tape recorded call. Defense counsel pointed out that Penal Code section 633.5 did not apply "if someone records a third party, not the alleged suspect, if you will, the perpetrator of the crime." (4 RT 1202.) He stressed that section 632 makes it illegal to record a phone call unless all parties to the conversation agree. The exception of section 633.5 "by its precise words" is "limited to the recording of a person who is a suspected perpetrator of a crime and a party to that phone call." (4 RT 1203.) "Given that Lorena was not the suspected perpetrator of any crime" section 633.5 did not provide an exception and the recording should not be allowed. (2 RT 1203.)

The prosecutor believed that 633.5 did apply. However, even without section 633.5, it would still come in to impeach Lorena's testimony, analogizing it to a *Miranda*³ violation where the statement would still come in to impeach "because ultimately a trial is to find and to seek the truth." (4 RT 1204.) It would be "illogical and unjust for the defense to put on a witness to say that didn't happen" but there is "evidence where she says otherwise." (4 RT 1204.)

The court again cited the *Crow* case, conceding that it was not directly on point. (RT 1205-1206.) It also found that precluding admission of this evidence would violate right to Truth-in-Evidence provision of the California Constitution. (4 RT 1206-1207.)

Defense counsel objected that the recording contained accusations made by Esperanza Martinez that Appellant had touched other unknown people. The defense was "getting broadsided by additional allegations and we have no idea if they're true." (4 RT 1224.) The statement should be excluded under 352 as more prejudicial than probative. (4 RT 1224.) The prosecutor said she would excise the references to other people. (4 RT 1225.)

³ (Miranda v. Arizona (1966) 384 U.S. 436.)

Defense counsel further complained that when Lorena testified earlier, the prosecutor could have asked her pointed questions and there was no need to impeach her. However, if the court were inclined to allow the tape he would recall Lorena to explain the conversation. (R RT 1226.)

The court ruled that portions of the tape and transcript referring to other people were not admissible, but the prosecution would be allowed to play the tape in rebuttal. It was impeachment and "the best evidence" of the conversation. (4 RT 1228-1229.)

Lorena Leon was recalled by the defense to explain what she meant during the taped conversation. (4 RT 1231-1250.) The prosecution recalled Martinez and played the tapes in rebuttal. (4 RT 1345-1364.)

C. Appellant argued on appeal that Monica's mother could testify about the conversation but the tape itself was not admissible

On appeal, Appellant argued that the plain language of sections 632 subdivision (d) and 633.5, forbid admitting the tape for any purpose.

Under *Frio v. Superior Court* (1988) 203 Cal.App.3d 1480, Esperanza

Martinez could testify to an untainted and independent recollection of the conversation but the tape was not admissible under any authority. *See infra*.

The Court of Appeal held that the exclusionary provision of section 632, subdivision (d) was abrogated by the Truth-in-Evidence provision of Article I, section 28(f) (hereinafter "Proposition 8"). The court relied heavily on *In re Lance W.* (1985) 37 Cal.3d 873, 890). (Slip opn. at pp. 15-18.)

The Court of Appeal observed that no published decision had found section 632, subdivision (d) abrogated by Proposition 8. But it found the reasoning of *People v. Ratekin* (1989) 212 Cal.App.3d 1165 to be "sound and wholly apposite" to section 632, subdivision (d). (Slip opn. at p. 13.)

The Court of Appeal also held that the secretly recorded phone conversation was admissible to impeach Lorena. (Slip opn. at p.14.)

The opinion of the Court of Appeal will be discussed in detail below.

Argument

I. PENAL CODE SECTION 632, SUBDIVISION (D) WAS NOT ABROGATED BY PROPOSITION 8

The Court of Appeal's reliance on *In re Lance W*., to hold that Penal Code section 632, subdivision (d) was abrogated by Proposition 8 was misapplied. In order to explain why the court's reasoning was wrong it is necessary to discuss the matter in some detail.⁴

A. The Right to Privacy

California specifically recognizes that the right to privacy is an inalienable right of all people as codified in both the Penal Code and the Constitution.

In 1967, the Legislature enacted the Invasion of Privacy Act.

Penal Code section 630 (Declaration of Policy) states in pertinent part:

"The Legislature hereby declares that advances in science and technology have led to the development of new devices and techniques for the purpose of eavesdropping upon private communications and that the **invasion of privacy** resulting from

⁴ Where the court's evidentiary ruling turns on the proper application of a statute, this question of law is reviewed de novo. (Slip opn. at p. 9, citing *People v. Grimes* (2016) 1 Cal.5th 698, 712.)

the continual and increasing use of such devices and techniques has created a serious threat to the free exercise of personal liberties and cannot be tolerated in a free and civilized society.

"The Legislature by this chapter intends to **protect the right of privacy** of the people in this state." (Emphases added.)

Penal Code section 632 was included in the 1967, Invasion of Privacy Act. Subdivision (a) makes it a crime punishable by a year in the county jail or in the state prison when "any person" "without the consent of all parties to a confidential communication" uses a "recording device to eavesdrop or record the confidential communication."

Subdivision (d) provides:

"Except as proof in an action or prosecution for violation of this section, no evidence obtained as a result of eavesdropping upon or recording a confidential communication in violation of this section shall be admissible in any judicial, administrative, legislative, or other proceeding." (Section 632 subdivision (d), emphasis added.)

In 1972, California voters added the right to privacy to the state Constitution as an "inalienable right" of "all people" (*White v. Davis* (1975) 13 Cal.3d 757, 773.)

"[T]he moving force behind the new constitutional provision was a more focussed privacy concern, relating to the accelerating encroachment on personal freedom and security caused by increased surveillance and data collection activity in contemporary society. The new provision's primary purpose is to afford individuals some measure of protection against this most modern threat to personal privacy." (*White v. Davis*, supra, 13 Cal.3d at p. 774.)

Specifically, the very first section of the Constitution states:

"All people are by nature free and independent and have inalienable rights. Among these are enjoying and defending life and liberty, acquiring, possessing, and protecting property, and pursuing and obtaining safety, happiness, and **privacy**." (Cal. Const. Art 1, sec. 1, emphasis added.)

B. The Right to Truth-in-Evidence

In 1982, the California voters added Proposition 8, the Victim's

Bill of Rights, to the state Constitution. (Article I, sec. 28.)

Subdivision (f)(2)[formerly 28(d)] (hereinafter "Proposition 8")

provides:

Right to Truth-in-Evidence. Except as provided by statute hereafter enacted by a two-thirds vote of the membership in each house of the Legislature, relevant evidence shall not be excluded in any criminal proceeding, including pretrial and post conviction motions and hearings, or in any trial or hearing of a juvenile for a criminal offense, whether heard in juvenile or adult court. Nothing in this section shall affect any existing statutory rule of evidence relating to privilege or hearsay, or Evidence Code Sections 352, 782 or 1103. Nothing in this section shall affect any existing statutory or constitutional right of the press.

C. Penal Code section 632 has been repeatedly amended since Proposition 8

The court below and the parties agreed that Penal Code section 632 has been reenacted three times since the passage of Proposition 8. The Court of Appeal stated: "As the People acknowledge, the Legislature has amended section 632 numerous times since the voters passed Proposition 8 in 1982." (Slip opn. at p. 15.)

"At least two-thirds of the members of each legislative house voted in favor of the legislation. (Footnote omitted.) Thus the question presented is whether the legislative enactments revived the exclusionary rule in section 632, subdivision (d), under the exception for newly enacted legislation set forth in Proposition 8." (Slip opn. at pp. 15-16.)

Relying on *In re Lance W*., the Court of Appeal, however, held that the amendments to Penal Code section 632 and enactment of new statutes did not make "substantive changes to the wording of the exclusionary rule set forth in section 632, subdivision (d). (Slip opn. at p. 15.) Therefore, section 632 subdivision (d) was abrogated by Proposition 8. As will be explained in detail below, the Court of Appeal misread *In re Lance W*.

D. In re Lance W held only that Proposition 8 abrogated the judicially created vicarious exclusionary rule

Article I, section 13 of the California Constitution is nearly identical to the Fourth Amendment of the United States Constitution.

Article I, section 13 provides:

"The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable seizures and searches may not be violated; and a warrant may not issue except on probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, particularly describing the place to be searched and the persons and things to be seized."

The Fourth Amendment provides:

"The right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers and effects, against unreasonable searches and seizures, shall not be violated, and no warrants shall issue, but upon probable cause, supported by oath or affirmation, and particularly describing the place to be searched, and the persons or things to be seized."

For a time, California courts held that Article I, section 13, had "more exacting standards" than the Fourth Amendment, so that a state criminal defendant "had standing to object to admission of evidence seized in violation of the rights of a third party." (*In re Lance W.* (1985) 37 Cal.3d 873, 879, citing *People v. Martin* (1955) 45 Cal.2d 755 and *Kaplan v. Superior Court*

(1971) 6 Cal.3d 150, 156.) This Court held that Proposition 8 abrogated the judicially created vicarious exclusionary rule. Henceforth, a court may exclude evidence "only if exclusion is also mandated by the federal exclusionary rule application to evidence sized in violation of the U.S. Const., 4th Amendment." (*In re Lance W.*, at p. 879.)

This Court agreed that Proposition 8 did not repeal Article I, section 13 of the California Constitution; nor did it repeal section 24 ("Rights guaranteed by this Constitution are not dependent on those guaranteed by the United States Constitution.") (*In re Lance W.*, 37 Cal.3d at p. 884 and fn. 3.)

"We agree that Proposition 8 did not repeal either section 13 or section 24 of article I. The substantive scope of both provisions remains unaffected by Proposition 8. What would have been an unlawful search or seizure in this state before the passage of that initiative would be unlawful today, and this is so even if it would pass muster under the federal Constitution. What Proposition 8 does it to eliminate a judicially created *remedy* for violations of the search and seizure provisions of the federal or state Constitutions, through the exclusion of evidence so obtained, except to the extent that exclusion remains federally compelled." (*In re Lance W.*, 37 Cal.3d at pp. 886-887, emphasis in the original.)

"The express intent of 28(d) [Proposition 8] is that all relevant evidence be admitted. That purpose cannot be effectuated if the judiciary is free to adopt exclusionary rules that are not authorized by statute or mandated by the Constitution." (*In re Lance W.*, 37 Cal.3d at p. 889.)

E. Article IV, section 9 and Government Code section 9605

Article IV, section 9 of the California Constitution reads in part that: "A section of a statute may not be amended unless the section is reenacted as amended." The first two paragraphs of Gov. Code section 9605 (effect of amendment on time of enactment; presumption that statute enacted last prevails) read (emphasis added):

"Where a section or part of a statute is amended, it is not to be considered as having been repealed and reenacted in the amended form. The portions which are not altered are to be considered as having been the law from the time when they were enacted; the new provisions are to be considered as having been enacted at the time of the amendment; and the omitted portions are to be considered as having been repealed at the time of the amendment. When the same section or part of a statute is amended by two or more acts enacted at the same session, any portion of an earlier one of such successive acts which is omitted from a subsequent act shall be deemed to have been omitted deliberately and any portion of a statute omitted by an earlier act which is restored in the subsequent act shall be deemed to have been restored deliberately.

"In the absence of any express provision to the contrary in the statute which is enacted last, it shall be conclusively presumed that the statute which is enacted last is intended to prevail over statutes which are enacted earlier at the same session and, in the absence of any express provision to the contrary in the statute which has a higher chapter number, it shall be presumed that a statute which has a higher chapter number was intended by the Legislature to prevail over a statute which is enacted at the same session but has a lower chapter number."

This Court agreed that the "only effect of section 9605 is to avoid an implied repeal and reenactment of unchanged portions of an amended statute, ensuring that the unchanged portion operates without interruption." (*In re Lance W.*, 37 Cal.3d at p. 895.) "The clear intent of Government Code section 9605 is to codify the rule that the unchanged portions of the new amended statute be 'reenacted' as they existed immediately prior to the amendment." (*Id.* at p. 895, fn. 18.)

In re Lance W., examined the effect of section 9605 on amendments to Penal Code section 1538.5 subdivision (a). Subdivision (a) provided "that a defendant in a criminal prosecution may seek suppression of evidence obtained in a search or seizure in violation of state constitutional standards." (37 Cal.3d at p. 893.) Subdivision (a) also provided that a defendant could move to suppress evidence obtained in violation of the federal constitution. (Id. at p. 893, fn.13.)

The portion of section 1538.5 that was enacted after Proposition 8 (chapter 625 of the 1982 Statutes), was an urgency clause that "indisputably" made changes that were "procedural only." (*In re Lance W.*, 37 Cal.3d at p. 894.) These amendments were to subdivisions (f) [motions to suppress in felony prosecutions limited to evidence presented at preliminary hearings] and (j) [authorizing review of orders granting motions to suppress and reinstatment

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