In the Supreme Court of the State of California

**THE PEOPLE OF THE STATE OF
CALIFORNIA,**

Plaintiff and Respondent,

v.

ALEJANDRO GUZMAN,

Defendant and Appellant.

FILED WITH PERMISSION

Case No. S242244

SUPREME COURT
FILED

MAY 24 2018

Jorge Navarrete Clerk

Second Appellate District, Case No. B265937
Los Angeles County Superior Court, Case No. BA240611
The Honorable Shelly Torrealba, Judge

Deputy

ANSWERING BRIEF ON THE MERITS

XAVIER BECERRA
Attorney General of California
GERALD A. ENGLER
Chief Assistant Attorney General
LANCE E. WINTERS
Senior Assistant Attorney General
LOUIS W. KARLIN
Deputy Attorney General
J. MICHAEL LEHMANN
Deputy Attorney General
State Bar No. 162873

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

2465 (1991-1992 Reg. Sess.) as amended March 9, 1991, p. 27 [“This bill provides the same penalties apply when one or more of the telephones carrying the communication is either cellular or cordless”]; Assem. Com. on Public Safety, Rep. on Assem. Bill No. 3457 (1989-1990 Reg. Sess.) Feb. 28, 1990, p. 36 [“This bill would (1) make it an alternate felony/misdemeanor to maliciously intercept a communication transmitted between cordless telephones or between a cordless telephone and a landline telephone without the consent of all parties”]; Sen. Com. on Energy & Public Utilities, Rep. on Sen. Bill No. 1431 (1985-1986 Reg. Sess.) as amended April 22, 1985, p. 26 [“SB 1341, as amended, would allow the same penalties presently enforced against landline eavesdroppers to apply to those who intercept or eavesdrop on conversations where one or more of the parties uses a cellular telephone”].)

At best, appellant asserts that the Legislature made a substantive amendment to section 632, subdivision (a) “to provide *increased penalties* for anyone previously convicted of violations of these new [] sections.” (OB 25, fn. omitted.) However, a review of the committee report indicates that this is not the case. (See Sen. Com. on Energy & Public Utilities, Rep. on Sen. Bill No. 1431 (1985-1986 Reg. Sess.) as amended April 22, 1985, p. 26 [*“Under present law, anyone who eavesdrops or records a confidential conversation over a telephone, . . . is punishable by a fine not exceeding \$2,500 []. A repeated offender is punishable under the same terms for \$10,000,”* italics added]; compare § 632, subd. (a) [“A person who, intentionally and without the consent of all parties to a confidential communication, uses an electronic amplifying or recording device to eavesdrop upon or record the confidential communication, . . . shall be punished by a fine not exceeding two thousand five hundred dollars (\$2,500) per violation, If the person has previously been convicted of a violation of this section [], the person shall be punished by a fine not

exceeding ten thousand dollars (\$10,000 per violation”].) Regardless, assuming the fines for violating section 632 had been increased, appellant fails to explain how this would constitute a revival of the exclusionary rule of section 632, subdivision (d), in criminal proceedings. (OB 25.)

Finally, the Legislature has demonstrated that it is perfectly capable of both reviving old exclusionary rules or enacting new ones, and clearly demonstrating that it is doing so. *People v. Sullivan, supra*, 234 Cal.App.3d 56, is instructive. *Sullivan* rejected the defendant’s argument that the Legislature had revived the Vehicle Code’s speed-trap exclusionary rule when it amended the speed trap laws with a two-thirds vote of both houses, holding that the Legislature would not implicitly revive the exclusionary rule when it was neither considered nor even discussed:

In this case, we also find a complete lack of any legislative history indicating an intent to override section 28(d), as well as a legislative amendment unanimously adopted in a rather casual manner. . . . The speed trap remedial provisions were not themselves amended or reenacted. . . . In order to find reestablishment in this case, we would have to conclude that the amendment of section 40802 constituted an implicit reenactment of section 40803. Just as the Supreme Court in *In re Lance W.* declined to view the Legislature’s postsection 28(d) reenactment of Penal Code section 1538.5 as a reestablishment of state constitutional grounds for exclusion under section 1538.5, we also do not infer that the 1986 amendment of section 40802 implicitly reestablished other statutory provisions neither discussed nor considered by the Legislature.

(*Id.* at pp. 64-65.) As noted above, the Legislature responded to *Sullivan* by enacting Vehicle Code § 40808, which provides as follows: “Subdivision (d) of Section 28 of Article I of the California Constitution shall not be construed as abrogating the evidentiary provisions of this article.” (Stats. 1992, ch. 538 (AB 3659), § 2.)

In the same way, if the Legislature had intended to revive section 632's exclusionary rule, it would be a simple matter for it to add the phrase "including criminal proceedings" or "notwithstanding article 1, section 28 of the California Constitution" to the end of subdivision (d). (See § 632, subd. (d) ["Except as proof in an action or prosecution for violation of this section, evidence obtained as a result of eavesdropping upon or recording a confidential communication in violation of this section is not admissible in any judicial, administrative, legislative, or other proceeding"].) It has not chosen to do so or to add any language that would indicate an intent to add a new exception to the ones already set forth in section 28.

In essence, appellant asks this Court to find that despite (1) failing to include language that would indicate section 632, subdivision (d)'s exclusionary rule applies in criminal proceedings and (2) failing to even mention the Right to Truth-in-Evidence provision in the legislative history, the Legislature *sub silentio* revived the statute's exclusionary rule in criminal proceedings. (OB 25-26.) That request is contrary to the fundamental rule against "interpret[ing] a statute to suspend the operation of the Constitution *sub silentio*." (*California School Boards Ass'n v. Brown* (2011) 192 Cal.App.4th 1507, 1525, fn. 21.) Appellant's theory is further undercut by the absence of public debate about the question of evidence exclusion and the minimal opposition to the amendments. (See *Lance W.*, *supra*, 37 Cal.3d at p. 894 ["We cannot assume that the Legislature understood or intended that such far-reaching consequences – virtually a legislative repeal of the "Truth-in-Evidence" section of Proposition 8 – would follow an amendment so casually proposed and adopted without opposition"].) For the reasons set forth above, appellant is mistaken.

F. Appellant Forfeited His Constitutional Right of Privacy and Equal Protection Arguments, Which Are Based on the Invasion Of Privacy Act, Not the California Constitution; Regardless, Both Arguments Are Meritless

Appellant asserts that a later-enacted provision of the California Constitution (the Right to Truth-In-Evidence provision) violates two other provisions of the California Constitution, namely, article I, section 1's right to privacy and article I, section 7's equal protection clause.¹¹ These arguments turn out to rest on two untenable propositions: (1) section 632 "outranks" article I, section 28, of the California Constitution, and (2) the Invasion of Privacy Act (§ 630 et seq.) confers a fundamental constitutional right requiring any equal protection analysis to be conducted on the basis of strict scrutiny.

Appellant forfeited his claims by failing to raise them in either the trial court or the Court of Appeal. Moreover, article 1, section 1 of the California Constitution contains no exclusionary rule, and this Court has never found one to be implicit in the constitutional guarantee. Of course, the exclusionary rule of section 632, subdivision (d), was enacted

¹¹ Appellant argues that any equal protection analysis of section 28 requires strict scrutiny because it implicates the fundamental right to privacy contained in the California Constitution (not the federal Constitution); thus, appellant's equal protection claim is based *solely* on article I, section 7 of the California Constitution. (OB 34 ["The right to privacy is an 'inalienable right' of 'all People.' (Art. I, sec. 1.) That the exclusionary rule of section 632, subdivision (d) applies in civil but not criminal cases cannot withstand strict scrutiny"]; see also *American Academy of Pediatrics v. Lungren* (1997) 16 Cal.4th 307, 326 ["past California cases establish that, in many contexts, the scope and application of the state constitutional right of privacy is broader and more protective of privacy than the federal constitutional right of privacy as interpreted by the federal courts," citation omitted]; *ibid.* [contrasting the United States Constitution's implied right to privacy in reproductive rights with the California Constitution's explicit guarantee of the right to privacy].)

independently of the constitutional provision, and cannot create or confer a fundamental constitutional right. Regardless, the constitutional Right to Truth-In-Evidence provision section 28 does not “violate” the state Constitution’s right to privacy, and allowing evidence obtained in violation of section 632 in criminal proceedings while excluding them in civil litigation (or any other non-criminal proceeding) does not violate equal protection.

1. Appellant Forfeited His Constitutional Claims

Appellant forfeited his two constitutional arguments as he failed to raise them in either the trial court or the Court of Appeal. (*People v. Homick* (2012) 55 Cal.4th 816, 859 [“Defendant also maintains that the constitutional claims he presents on appeal incorporate the objection he failed to make below. But he did not raise most of those constitutional objections either, and he cannot bootstrap the current claim on their backs simply because, in some limited circumstances, we might entertain constitutional claims not raised below”]; *People v. Tully* (2012) 54 Cal.4th 952, 1066 [“Citing the Fifth, Sixth, Eighth and Fourteenth Amendments to the federal Constitution and article I of the California Constitution, defendant contends that the death qualification of juries in California is unconstitutional. The claim is forfeited by defendant’s failure to raise it below,” citation omitted].) Because his constitutional arguments require different legal analyses from his trial objections and appellate claims, he was required to object on these grounds below. (*Tully, supra*, at pp. 979-980.)¹²

¹² In the title to his third argument, and in arguing prejudice, appellant broadly asserts that his right to due process has been violated. (OB 33, 42.) However, appellant does not present a due process argument anywhere in his brief, and it is forfeited. (See OB 33-42; *People v. Whalen* (2013) 56 Cal.4th 1, 72, fn. 28 [failure to provide argument or authority

(continued...)

2. Fairly Understood, Appellant's Claims Are Based on the Invasion Of Privacy Act, Not the Constitutional Right to Privacy; That Act is Irrelevant to Any Constitutional Analysis

Both appellant's constitutional right to privacy argument and his equal protection argument – which asserts that strict scrutiny is required because the constitutional right to privacy is implicated – purport to be based on article I, section 1 of the state Constitution. However, a review of the arguments indicates that they are based on statutes or statutory schemes.

Appellant's right to privacy argument reduces to the assertion that a statute, section 632, subdivision (d), "outranks" section 28 of the California Constitution. (OB 39 ["[S]ection 632, subdivision (d) was enacted to protect the right to privacy and prohibits an illegal tape recording from being admitted in *any* judicial proceeding. Given that the right to privacy outranks the truth-in-evidence, Proposition 8 did not abrogate section 632,

(...continued)

supporting the defendant's contention forfeits the issue].) Further, appellant has forfeited any due process argument by failing to raise it below. (2RT 308; 4RT 1202-1203, 1223-1224; *People v. Jones* (1998) 17 Cal.4th 279, 299, fn. 1 ["it would be wholly inappropriate to reverse a superior court's judgment for error it did not commit and that was never called to its attention"].) His reliance on *People v. Partida* (2005) 37 Cal.4th 428, for the proposition that a "352 objection may be raised on appeal as a due process claim" (OB 42) is also misplaced. The only portion of the recording that appellant's counsel asked to exclude as unduly prejudicial concerned comments regarding another potential victim. (4RT 1224.) The trial court excluded that portion of the recording. (4RT 1228.) Even if appellant had raised an Evidence Code section 352 objection regarding any other portion of the tape below and argued it in this Court, that would not be a basis for preserving a distinct due process claim. (*People v. Riggs* (2008) 44 Cal.4th 248, 292 ["To the extent defendant on appeal raises a federal constitutional claim distinct from his claim that the trial court abused its discretion under Evidence Code section 352, he forfeited this claim by failing to identify that ground in his objections to the trial court," citation omitted].)

subdivision (d)”).) But, the right to privacy in Article I, section 1 does not forbid surreptitiously recording conversations, nor does it contain any sort of exclusionary rule. It provides no independent basis for exclusion of evidence; section 632, subdivision (d) does.

Similarly, appellant’s equal protection challenge to section 28 is not truly premised on the California Constitution. Appellant argues that the Invasion of Privacy Act (section 630, et seq.) is the “fundamental right” requiring strict scrutiny under an equal protection analysis. (See OB 35 [“The purpose of section 632, subdivision (2) is to protect the inalienable right to privacy of all people. Criminal defendants and civil litigants are similarly situated vis-a-vis Penal Code section 630, but are treated unequally,” citations omitted].) Thus, his argument is not actually premised on the California Constitution.

Of course, “fundamental constitutional rights” are not conferred by statute. (See, e.g., *In re Celine R.* (2003) 31 Cal.4th 45, 59 [“a defendant’s right to counsel in criminal cases is a fundamental constitutional right, but the child’s right to counsel in a dependency case is solely statutory”]; *Townsend v. Superior Court* (1975) 15 Cal.3d 774, 781 [“the statutory right to be tried within 60 days cannot properly be termed ‘fundamental’ in the foregoing sense [that they are guaranteed by the Sixth Amendment’s right to a speedy trial] and therefore beyond counsel’s primary control,” citation omitted].) Moreover, appellant’s assertion that the “purpose” of section 632, subdivision (d)’s exclusionary rule is to protect the “inalienable right to privacy of all people” as set forth in article I, section 1 is incorrect. The Invasion of Privacy Act was enacted in 1967. (See, e.g., Stats. 1967, ch. 1509, p. 3584, § 1.) The state constitutional right to privacy was added to article I five years after the enactment of the Invasion of Privacy Act, when the voters enacted Proposition 11, the “Privacy Initiative,” on November 7, 1972. (See Ballot Pamp., Prop. 11, Gen. Elec. (Nov. 7, 1972), appen., p. 11

[text of proposed law]; see also *id.* at p. 26 [Leg. Counsel’s Analysis]; *id.* at pp. 26-28 [arguments for and against].)

In essence, appellant argues that a provision of the California Constitution is void because it is inconsistent with a statute (§ 632) or statutory scheme (§ 630, et seq.). (OB 33-39.) Appellant is mistaken. (*Hotel Employees & Restaurant Employees Internat. Union v. Davis, supra*, 21 Cal.4th at p. 602 [“A statute inconsistent with the California Constitution is, of course, void”]; *People v. Navarro, supra*, 7 Cal.3d at p. 260 [“Wherever statutes conflict with constitutional provisions, the latter must prevail”].)

In sum, appellant’s arguments are actually based on the Invasion of Privacy Act, not article I, section 1 of the California Constitution. The Act is not a constitutional provision, nor was it enacted to protect the right to privacy as set forth in the California Constitution. Accordingly, the Act and the exclusionary rules contained therein, as well as the policy underlying it, form no part of any analysis as to whether section 28 violates either article I, section 1’s right to privacy or article I, section 7’s right to equal protection. In any event, as is set forth below, section 28 violates neither the constitutional right to privacy nor equal protection.

3. Appellant’s Right to Privacy Argument is Meritless

As an initial matter, assuming Article I, section 1 of the California Constitution somehow contained an implicit exclusionary rule, appellant would lack standing to raise such a claim as he was not a party to the recorded conversation, and his privacy was not violated in any way. (See, e.g., *Sam Andrews’ Sons v. Agricultural Labor Relations Bd.* (1988) 47 Cal.3d 157, 191 [“the residents of the camp, not the owner, possess the right to privacy and the standing to assert it”].) Regardless, appellant fails to cite any authority for the proposition that the constitutional right of

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